1955

Laura M. Price v. Edward E. Price : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff in this matter was awarded an interlocutory decree of divorce on August 10, 1946 in a contested divorce proceeding at Brigham City, Utah. At the time of the divorce the parties were the owners of a home in Garland, Utah and a lot in Tremonton, Utah with a C.O.C. barracks located upon it. Plaintiff was awarded the home and lot in Garland, Utah and the sum of "\$50.00 per month alimony and support money for herself and minor children." At the time of the divorce there were four minor children, Lois, Edna, Owen and Tamara

Price whose custody was awarded to plaintiff, and a minor child, DeLawn Price, whose custody was awarded to the defendant. The award to the plaintiff of the \$50.00 per month and the distribution of the property was based upon the Court's finding that the defendant was capable of earning \$250.00 per month gross. Apparently the bitterness between the parties persisted and on March 16, 1948 an instrument was signed entitled "Satisfaction and Release of Judgment and Release of Lien on Real Estate", which was signed by the plaintiff herein and duly acknowledged on said date and filed herein, and which Release the Court announced was good and valid and not touched with fraud (Tr.88). Thereafter, on April 10, 1948, the defendant married his present wife, June M. Price, and this couple has one child, Debra Price, age 4 years, as of May, 1954.

The plaintiff, since the divorce in 1946, remarried one A. C. McLaughlin and was thereafter divorced from McLaughlin and awarded \$50.00 per month alimony from McLaughlin. That after the

divorce from McLaughlin she married Leander Payne and moved to Logan approximately 1½ years before May of 1954. Of the four children whose custody was awarded to plaintiff the two older ones were married in about the year 1949 or 1950 (Tr.33), and the remaining two children, Owen and Tamara, reside with plaintiff. When the plaintiff with her new husband, Leander Payne, moved to Logan, Utah they enrolled the children, Owen and Tamara Price, in the Logan schools under the name of Payne (Tr.65-76), and Leander Payne and the plaintiff both held the children out to be the children of Leander Payne. In fact, they had the children "sealed" to them at the Logan Temple (Tr.65).

On February 1, 1954 an Order to Show Cause and Restraining Order in this matter was issued by the Court compelling the defendant to be and appear and show cause why he should not be held in contempt of Court for his failure to continue making payments under the divorce decree of 1946. The defendant appeared on the 27th day of April to show cause but by stipulation the matter was continued until such

time as counsel for plaintiff could file a petition for modification of the Decree. Defendant filed a Return on the Order to Show Cause and also filed Objections and Answer to the Petition for Modification, and hearing was had on plaintiff's petition and Order to Show Cause and the defendant's Return and Answer on May 11, 1954. Defendant showed (Tr. 32, see also Cross Pet.41) he suffered from heart trouble, earned less than \$1,000.00 per year in any year since 1948 (Tr.29-31) and was unable to adequately support his present family, in fact, his 4-year old daughter is going without proper medical attention (Tr.82-83 and 36).

On the 1st day of February 1955 Findings and Conclusions were filed as was an Order modifying the decree of divorce. By the order modifying the decree of divorce the defendant was ordered to pay the sum of \$25.00 per month each for the support of the two minor children, Tamara and Owen, and plaintiff was awarded judgment for \$2,880.00. On the 10th day of February 1955 the defendant filed

a Motion for Amendment of Findings and Order and for a New Trial, and the Court, on the 1st day of March 1955, amended the order modifying the decree of divorce by reducing the judgment awarded to plaintiff from \$2,880.00 to \$1,880.00 and thereafter this appeal was filed.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. Insufficient Findings of Fact were made on some issues, and no Findings of Fact were made on other issues.
2. The Findings of Fact which were made were not supported by the evidence.
3. Error in awarding judgment to plaintiff for \$1,880.00.
4. Error in awarding plaintiff judgment for \$25.00 per month for each of two minor children.
5. It is inequitable to award plaintiff \$50.00 per month for the support of the two minor children and also inequitable to award her any sum as and for past due installments.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1: INSUFFICIENT FINDINGS OF FACT WERE MADE ON SOME ISSUES, AND NO FINDINGS OF FACT WERE MADE ON OTHER ISSUES.

Digitized by the Utah State Library and the Utah State Archives. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

This Court, in the case of Osmus vs. Osmus, 114 Utah 216 at page 223, reiterates as a principal firmly established in this State that in order to entitle either party to modification of a decree of alimony or support money, such party must plead and prove change in circumstances such as to require a change in the terms of the Decree. In the instant case the only part of plaintiff's petition for modification which could be construed to contain a plea of changed circumstances appears in paragraph 4 thereof "that the cost of living has materially increased since the decree of divorce was rendered; that a reasonable amount for the support of each minor child would be the sum of \$37.00 for food, clothing, and personal care and medical, dental and household supplies." Whether there was an allegation of changed circumstances or not there was no proof of any changed circumstances, and in fact the plaintiff in her testimony (Tr.68) indicated that the cost for the food for children would be the same in 1948, 1946, and 1954. On this essential point of what changed circum-

modification there is no finding by the Court. While this Court has in the case of Anderson vs. Anderson, 110 Utah 300, indicated a person would not be entitled to a pro rata reduction of support money where the number of minor children had changed since the original decree, still it would seem that in order for a Court in the instant case to award judgment to plaintiff for the sum of \$25.00 per month for the support of each minor child herein, would require a finding of changed circumstances from 1946. There is no finding of what the changed circumstances were.

There were further no Findings of Fact on the issues raised by defendant in his objections and answer to plaintiff's petition, particularly as to defendant's ability to pay based on his allegations of reduced earnings and reduced ability to work because of heart trouble. There is, in fact, no finding by the Court as to what the defendant's earnings are.

No findings were made upon the amount of support contributed in the past by the defendant to

the plaintiff, nor was any finding made on what portion of the original amount of alimony and support money was apportioned as alimony and what portion for each minor child. It is impossible to tell upon what facts the Court arrived at the figure of \$1,880.00.

The Court invited plaintiff's counsel to file another petition for modification should circumstances change so as to entitle the children to more money than the Court awarded (Tr.89), but the Court makes no finding of what the income of the defendant is so that in the event of a future petition for modification there would be no basis upon which to establish a changed circumstance in this regard.

POINT 2: THE FINDINGS OF FACT WHICH WERE MADE WERE NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

The Court's finding of fact No. 5, entered on the 1st day of February 1955, to-wit:

"The Court further finds that the defendant at all times hereinabove mentioned was and still is an ablebodied man in more or less constant receipt of wages and income sufficient to pay \$25.00 per month support money for each of the two minor children."

is not supported by the evidence adduced at the trial, in fact the only evidence as to defendant's physical condition was furnished by Cross Petition Exhibit #1 which is the statement of Dr. Viko and was admitted in the evidence upon stipulation of counsel which positively establishes the fact that the defendant suffered from heart trouble, and by the testimony of defendant (Tr.31-32) and defendant's present wife, June M. Price (Tr.81-82) to the effect that he had heart trouble and was unable to work. The only evidence on the defendant's ability to pay for the support of his minor children was to the effect that he had some income from house-moving activities which he engaged in with his son, and that he was not in receipt of any wages nor income aside from the proceeds from the house-moving venture. The evidence here is conclusive that he never received more than two-thirds of \$1,440.00 (Tr.30, 80) for any year since the divorce and in some years his net proceeds were much less (Tr.29-30), in fact, as little as two-thirds of \$615.05. Plaintiff at no time

disputes his earnings nor shows any earnings in excess of the sums received through the house-moving. Defendant's testimony with regard to his earnings are born out by the fact that defendant lives in a converted C.C.C. Barracks (Tr.27) without even a bathroom, has had only one suit of clothes during the past four years and dresses always in overalls and work shirt (Tr.31), that the minor child of the defendant and his present wife, June M. Price, is in dire need of medical attention which the parties have been unable to provide for her because of lack of funds (Tr. 82-83).

That part of findings of fact No. 3 that

"There is now due under the said Decree the sum of \$4,450.00 as of May 18, 1954, and that the children's share of the above amount for the support of the children is the sum of \$1,880.00"

is not supported by any evidence in the record.

POINT #3: ERROR IN AWARDING JUDGMENT TO PLAINTIFF FOR \$1,880.00.

As to point #3 the Court erred in awarding plaintiff judgment for \$1,880.00, and appellant contends that upon the granting of the divorce in

in 1946 the plaintiff became a femme sole and was capable of contracting with any party, including her ex-husband, so that in March of 1948 when the plaintiff released for \$1,700.00 her judgment, lien, and all claims against the defendant, it was an act that she was certainly capable of doing. The trial court apparently agreed with the plaintiff's contention that she could not release the judgment for the support of the minor children in the future, although plaintiff did not claim that the release was not binding so as to release claimed back due payments up to the time of the release, and the Court expressly determined (Tr.38) that the release was valid.

Plaintiff's contention seems wrong on two grounds, the first of which is that if the release and satisfaction of judgment is sufficient to discharge the obligation for past due installments, then until such time as the plaintiff moved to set aside the release, the release should continue to be effective as to past due installments. The second reason would seem that under our statute either or both parents is obligated by statute to provide

the necessities for the minor children, Sec. 30-2-9 UCA 1953. Also it would seem under Sec. 76-15-1 UCA 1953 that both parents could be charged with failure to provide for the minor children. These sections of the statute are pointed out simply to call attention to the fact that if both father and the mother are liable for the support of the minor children then it would seem the appellant mother, being a femme sole, could contract and agree for valuable consideration to relieve the father of the obligation to support the children, and such contract should be binding until such time as the same is set aside.

While no case directly in point in our State was found there are a great number of cases throughout the United States and England which support defendant's contentions. They are *Pye vs. Pye* 152 N.Y.S. page 564, where the plaintiff attempted to have a Writ of Execution for back alimony due from her husband and in which case the defendant, the former husband of the plaintiff, defended on the grounds that he had a valid and subsisting release

and satisfaction of the judgment and the Court said

"The written agreement by which plaintiff agreed to accept \$925.00 in full payment of the alimony awarded to her by decree herein, which sum was paid to her, is still in force and is binding upon the plaintiff until set aside. Galuska vs. Galuska 116 N.Y. 635, 22 N.E. 1114; Winter vs. Winter 191 N.Y. 462; 84 N.E. 382; Greenfield vs. Greenfield, 161 App. Div. 573, 146 N.Y.S. 865."

For decisions to the effect that even though a release is void, until such time as it is repudiated the release would be valid and binding up to the time of its repudiation, see Gehring vs. Gehring, 30 N.Y.S. 2d 257, 262 App.Div. 1065.

In Van Ness vs. Ransom 115 N.Y.S. 251, 164 App. Div. 483 wherein plaintiff sued to recover back due alimony under a divorce Decree and defendant alleged as a defense a release which plaintiff denied signing, the Court held that the "release immediately released the judgment" and further held that the wife's denial of the execution of the release was insufficient to rebut the acknowledgment which appeared on the release.

In the case of Parker vs. Parker, 179 N.Y.S. 51—189 App.Div. 603, plaintiff sought back alimony

for 18 years under a Decree of divorce modified some 14 years previous, claiming that the modification when obtained was a fraud upon the Court. Plaintiff also sought \$1,320.00 which the defendant had failed to pay under the modified Decree and as to which \$1,320.00 the defendant claimed a written consent to reduction of alimony by plaintiff was given. It had been six years since the claimed written consent had been given and the Court said of the plaintiff

"She should in the circumstances be deemed estopped at this late date from claiming that the payments of alimony made by the defendant were not all of the alimony she was entitled to receive under the judgment or the judgment as modified, for had she at the time pressed the claim she now makes the defendant might have obtained further modification of those judgments."

And so in that case it appeared that even though plaintiff did not have a record of the release of the judgment or the consent to the modification, the Court was willing to apply an estoppel against the wife to prevent her from obtaining any sum in excess of the amount fixed by the subsequent agreement for modification. An interesting and important

fact in this case was that the Court used only the term alimony, but as a matter of fact the support of four minor children was involved and apparently the same rule was applied to the sums due under the Decree whether designated alimony or support money.

The New York rule as above appears to be that the release or satisfaction of the mother is valid and binding until set aside and operates to prevent the enforcement of a Writ of Execution for back due support money or alimony as claimed by such party. A much stronger position is taken by the Missouri Court in Francis vs. Francis, 192 Mo. App. 710, 179 S.W. 975, in which plaintiff and defendant were divorced in 1903 and plaintiff awarded \$40.00 per month alimony. (Here again however the \$40.00 was to cover as well the support of minor children). In 1912 plaintiff caused the execution and garnishment to be issued for \$6,984.84. Thereafter, both parties being represented by counsel, plaintiff executed a release in favor of the defendant of all past due alimony for \$600.00 cash

cash and all future alimony for \$1.00. In pursuance of that agreement the defendant paid to the plaintiff the sum of \$601.00 and defendant defends on the grounds that the contract relieved him of further liability. Plaintiff was seeking to set aside the release as well as have the Writ of Execution enforced, however the trial Court denied her release and the Supreme Court in passing upon the question had this to say:

"In the case at bar we have the fact of the plaintiff here by a solemn covenant and agreement in writing acknowledged by her before a public official agreeing to accept \$600.00 in satisfaction of the accrued installments, to have the former order or judgment changed accordingly by the Court, and to accept \$1.00 in lieu of alimony in gross.—Here in point of fact was a valid executed contract which plaintiff could not rescind. When the Court enforced it, it did no more than what it had a right to do independent of the agreement, and, as we have said, simply enforced and carried out the contract that the parties had made.-----"

In the case of Wolfe vs. Wolfe, decided in Illinois in 1940, 24 N.E. 871, the parties were divorced in 1928 and plaintiff was awarded \$25.00 per week for the support of a minor child. There-

after the Decree was modified to provide \$15.00

for the support of the minor child. In June of 1934 the plaintiff and defendant orally agreed that \$12.50 would be paid by defendant. Five years later in 1939 the plaintiff seeks judgment of \$876.25 for unpaid installments under said Decree, and the defendant alleged the oral consent to the reduced alimony and the fact of five years acquiescence and further pointed out to the Court that the grandmother of the child had had it at least for part of that period. The trial Court refused to grant plaintiff relief and the Supreme Court noted

"When plaintiff accepted these payments for a period of five years, equity and justice would seem to deny her any right to complain to the Court unless it could be made to appear that the financial condition of defendant had so improved that he should be ordered to pay the amount provided for in the original Decree.---"

In all of the above cited cases, numerous other cases throughout most of the states were cited in support of the decisions rendered. Among the cited cases was the case of Neely vs. Neely, 9 Ohio Dec. Reprint 201, where the Court held that

the wife became a femme sole upon the granting of the divorce and was able to contract the same as any other person with regard to alimony, and cited English cases to the same effect.

Innes vs. McColgan, a California case in 118 Pac.2d 855, was a tax case which passed upon the effectiveness of an agreement discharging the husband from an alimony Decree awarding plaintiff \$300.00 per month, and there the Court said:

"Of course as between plaintiff and his divorced wife the documents they executed in May, 1935 and the payment of \$25,000.00 into the trust fund constituted a complete release by the wife of the obligation of the husband to support her insofar as that result could have been accomplished by a contract between them. Had the wife by execution or otherwise obtained further money from plaintiff under the support provisions of the divorce decree it is probable that plaintiff could have had his remedy against her for the damages suffered recoverable in an action for breach of contract."

Our own case of Openshaw vs. Openshaw, 105 Utah 574, 144 Pac.2d 528, used language on Page 578 which would indicate that this Court would take into consideration acts of the party claiming rights under the Decree, if she had acted in such manner

the Decree was sought to be enforced, when the Court said

"-----When the right to collect money under the terms of a Decree has vested, it is not within the province of a Court to divest such right, unless the party who claims the right has acted in such a manner as to clearly prejudice the substantial rights of the party against whom the right is sought to be enforced-----"(Underlining added)

The Court again states

"-----The plaintiff therefore properly applied to the Court for determination of the precise amount due and owing for which execution should issue; and absent any competent facts to establish release, satisfaction, offsets, estoppel, or other bases for reducing the amount for which execution should issue, (Underlining added) plaintiff was entitled to an order showing that \$7,717.42 was the aggregate amount in arrears within a period of eight years for which execution should issue."

In the instant case defendant, in reliance upon the release and satisfaction obtained from the plaintiff, one month later entered into a new marriage. He has had one child born as the issue of this marriage and his undisputed testimony is that there is not sufficient money for him to support his present family.

While the point will be taken up also in

another place in the brief, mention is made here of the further facts that this plaintiff has, if we are to take the witness, Shumway's, testimony (Tr.8), and the defendant's testimony (Tr.34), advised defendant she wants nothing more from him, and this fact seems in part at least corroborated by the plaintiff's own testimony, (Tr.73) to the effect that she advised her attorney just prior to the execution of the release in March, 1948 that if she could just get enough money out of her ex-husband to pay the taxes and fix the bathroom in her new home in Brigham City the attorney could have everything else. It would thus seem that she would certainly also tell her ex-husband that if she could only get enough money to do all these things that she would surely release him and expect nothing more from him. Also, it should have some weight in determining the point of whether or not she was entitled to a judgment for \$1,880.00 that the plaintiff held the children out to be the children of her new husband, Leander Payne, and in fact admitted that she took them to the Temple and had them "sealed" to herself and Leander Payne.

Without urging the legal effect of such a "sealing" it is certainly obvious what the plaintiff desired and what she felt about the matter which was that she did not want the children to be the children of defendant if she could do anything to change it and she apparently wanted the defendant to know that she had had the children "sealed" to herself and her present husband. It therefore seems that in view of the complete release and satisfaction of the judgment, the holding out of the children to be the children of her then husband, Leander Payne, and the "sealing" of the children to herself and Leander Payne, that the strongest possible case was made for the view that she should have no judgment for back due alimony. In fact, it would seem that under such circumstances the Court would be justified in applying the Missouri rule to the extent of denying her judgment for any sums whatever, and terminating her rights to future support money.

POINT #4: ERROR IN AWARDING PLAINTIFF JUDGMENT FOR \$25.00 PER MONTH FOR EACH OF TWO MINOR CHILDREN.

Defendant contends (as has often been reiterated by this Court), that the basis upon which an award for support money is to be made is the need of the person supported and the defendant's ability to pay. Defendant certainly does not here urge that his ability to pay does not permit the payment of such a sum for the said children. The fact that the parties while they were still living together were obliged to accept relief, the standard of living of the defendant and his new family, including making their home in a C.C.C. Barracks and their very modest, if not negligible clothing, corroborate the evidence adduced by defendant as to his earnings. It is apparent from the record, (Tr.50) that the money borrowed by the defendant to pay to plaintiff and for her benefit when the release and satisfaction was given in March of 1948, was repaid by the present wife of the defendant out of money which she had from the sale of property owned by her prior to the marriage to defendant. The fact that the defendant's present wife gets out in work clothes and works at the

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