1955

Laura M. Price v. Edward E. Price : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

ARGUMENT

Point No. 1: The lower court made sufficient find-

8.

Appellant argues that there has been no proof of change of circumstances such as to require a change in the terms of the decree. In plaintiff's petition for modification, she alleges that the cost of living has materially increased, that the two minor children are now attending school, and are in need of clothes and support, personal care, dental and medical services, and that they are now of the ages of 9 and 11 years. (Ct. Re. 71,72). At the time of the decree the children were of the ages of 1 and 3 years. Plaintiff further alleges that since the decree of divorce she had remarried and therefore was not entitled to alimony. (Ct. Re. 71,72). The defendant in his objections to modification alleged that there were four minor children at the time of the decree and that there are now two minor children to be supported. (Ct. Re. 73,77). The defendant in his return alleges that the plaintiff had remarried and was divorced and subsequently married again. (Ct. Re. 74) and in his

objections to modification he alleges that there has been a change of circumstances, and also alleges that there has been a release of alimony and support money, that the gross earnings of the defendant have been diminished, that the defendant is remarried and has one child, and many other allegations to show that there has been a change of conditions. (Ct. Re. 7B). Evidence was introduced in the above matters which definitely shows that there should be in fairness and equity a change in the terms of the decree and a modification of the duties of the defendant toward his two minor children establishing the amount due by the terms of the decree, and his case comes squarely within the ruling of the case cited by the defendant of *Osmus v. Osmus*, 114 Utah 233, 198 P2d 233. (Tr. 58 to 62). In paragraph two of the lower court's findings, the court found:

"...That paragraph three of the said Decree awarded to the plaintiff the care, custody, and control of 4 minor children. Two of the said children that were awarded to the plaintiff under said

decree are Owen Price, age 11, and Tamara Price, age 9, who are now in the care, custody and control of the plaintiff. (Ct. Re. 83) (Tr.58)."

The lower court further found as a change of condition that the plaintiff had remarried and was not entitled to any alimony.(Ct. Re. 84). This fact was admitted by the plaintiff in her petition for modification.(Ct. Re. 71) and was admitted by the defendant.(Ct. Re. 75). Thus the plaintiff has shown changed circumstances and according to Anderson v. Anderson, 110 Utah 300, 172 P2d 132, where the changed circumstances were that one child lived with its father (the defendant) and the mother (the plaintiff) had remarried and was no longer entitled to alimony payments the court said at page 135 and 136 of 172 P2d;

"...This (the changed circumstances) does not mean that the defendant will be entitled to have the \$75.00 per month allowance reduced pro rata. The criterion for determination of support money is the need of the persons supported and the defendant's ability to pay."

The court did find in the instant case:

"That the defendant since the time of the decree has been engaged in the house moving business and has been continually in receipt of money and was able to pay the said support money and that he has wilfully, unlawfully and contemptuously failed and refused to make the payments as required by the said decree and that he is now continuously in receipt of money, and well and able to pay the amount awarded for the support of the said minor children."

"The court further finds that the defendant at all times hereinabove mentioned was and still is an able bodied man in more or less constant receipt of wages and income sufficient to pay \$25.00 per month support money for each of the two minor children.(Ct.Re.84)."

It was almost impossible for the court to find a definite amount of earnings of the defendant, because of defendant's own testimony, and furthermore it is not necessary to make a definite finding especially when the defendant makes it impossible by his own testimony. A part of his testimony is as follows:

- Q. How many pieces of property?
- A. I made \$1195.35 last that's in '53.
- Q. What was your gross?
- A. No, the gross was \$2,420.
- Q. \$2420.00?

Q. That's close enough. Now, in all of those years-- first, do you know what you make in 1953?

A. Yes, I know what I made, I made \$2500.00.

POINT No.2.

The lower court did not err in its findings of fact No.5 and the said findings is overwhelmingly supported by the evidence in this case. The defendant argues that because he has suffered heart trouble that he should not pay any support money for his children. Dr. Viko stated that the defendant has rheumatic heart disease with probably some arteriosclerotic myocardial change in addition and he recommends that he should do no heavy manual labor, but he goes on to recommend that he reduce his weight twenty pounds (Defendant's Ex.1). Even in his present condition of carrying around an extra twenty pounds, the defendant is still able and has been ever since the time of the divorce to conduct a moving business in which he is associated with two others. The defendant testified

had been in the moving business since 1948 (Tr. 20). At the time the decree of divorce was granted in 1946 the court found that the defendant was a trucker by trade and capable of grossing \$250.00 per month. (Ct. Re. 20). The plaintiff testified that the defendant was engaged in the moving business in 1946 and that he is still in the moving business, and that he makes money all the time. (Tr. 60). There is also other evidence to support the finding. The balance of defendant's point no. 2 will be answered in point no. 3.

POINT NO. 3

THE LOWER COURT PLAINLY DID NOT ERR IN FINDING JUDGMENT TO THE PLAINTIFF IN THE SUM OF \$1880.00 AND FINDING THAT THERE WAS DUE UNDER THE DECREE THE SUM OF \$4450.00.

The only error committed here was that the court failed to make a finding and decree giving the plaintiff judgment for the sum of \$4450.00. The judgment of the lower court awarding the plaintiff the sum of

\$1500.00 and determining that \$4450.00 was due under the decree is sustained by the following evidence. The divorce decree of 10 August 1946 requires the defendant to pay \$50.00 for alimony and support money. The amended decree of divorce requires the defendant to assume and pay the mortgage indebtedness to the Bear River State Bank in the sum of approximately \$1500.00. (Ct. Re. 42). This is no doubt the same \$1500.00 referred to in the lower court's finding No. 1 dated the 23rd day of July 1947. (Ct. Re. 53), and also the \$1500 referred to in the purported Satisfaction and Release of Judgment and Release of Lien on Real Property. (Ct. Re. 64).

The release which the plaintiff signed (Ct. Re. 64) and referred to in appellant's brief page 11 was invalid. The Satisfaction and Release of Judgment was invalid and never did purport to release the defendant from paying the alimony and support money,

12.

the date of the said release, (Ct. Re. 64) and appears to be releasing certain property from a lien imposed on the real estate by reason of the said decree and the amended decree. This was at the time the money was turned over to Mr. Shumway no doubt to pay the \$1500.00 mortgage indebtedness that the defendant was already required to pay. The plaintiff did not receive any money at the time the release was given or at any time subsequent. (Tr. 56, 68). She did not want to release the defendant from any payments (Tr. 56). Mr. Shumway testified that the plaintiff would get a \$1500.00 credit on her mortgage (Tr. 7). This credit is no doubt the same obligation that was referred to in the amended decree of divorce. (Ct. Re. 42). It does not appear that there was any consideration for the purported release, because the plaintiff already was required to pay the \$1500.00 mortgage indebtedness to the Bear River State Bank.

13.

points involved in this case have been decided by this Supreme Court in Smith vs. Smith, 117 Utah 523, 218 Pac.2d 270, and Anderson vs. Anderson, 120 Utah 300, 172 Pac.2d 132. In Anderson vs. Anderson, supra, the Supreme Court of this State held that the mother of minor children could not waive the provisions of a decree providing for support of a child, as the award was for the benefit of the child. The Court said:

"We see no reason why the court could not likewise require him to pay a sum equal to the installments which had been unpaid. The court was doubtless reluctant to specifically hold defendant in contempt when the plaintiff had told him she did not want any more money from him when she remarried. She could not waive the right of the two children who did remain with her to be supported by defendant as required by the decree."

However, in Smith vs. Smith, supra, this Court held that after the parties entered into a settlement and the court made an order which recited that the settlement was to full satisfaction

alimony and support money due or to become due, the settlement satisfied only the alimony and support money then due and owing rather than alimony and support money which would thereafter become due under the decree of divorce. However, in the plaintiff's case there was no order of the court approving the settlement and the release should not be valid as to the children's portion due as of the signing of the release even though the court should hold that the release was valid as to the plaintiff. Also there was no recital in the purported release which the plaintiff signed that the purported release was in settlement of alimony and support money to become due.

If the court should find the purported release valid on the date of execution as to alimony and support money, there would still be due the sum of \$3700.00 approximately, as of the date of the release was signed, because according to Anderson vs.

pro rate the amount due under the decree of divorce especially where the children's needs require the full amount as in the instant case.

The defendant's argument that the plaintiff became a femme sole upon the granting of the divorce in 1946, and was capable of contracting with the defendant to release all claims against the defendant is patently incorrect in view of the holdings of the Smith and Anderson cases, supra. The court did not expressly determine that the release was valid as contended by the defendant on page 11 of his brief, but that the release was not valid as against the interest of the minor children. (Ct. Re. 84).

The defendant's contentions on the balance of page 11 of his brief and pages 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, are all completely disproved by the decision of this court in the Anderson and Smith cases, supra. However, the defendant contends on page 15 of his appellate brief that the New York rule appears

the mother is valid and binding until set aside. Even if the law on waiver were not governed by the Smith and Anderson cases, *supra*, the New York rule is not as the defendant contends. In fact the New York courts and other courts of this country are now in harmony with the Anderson and Smith cases, *supra*, for in the case of *Thomson v. Thomson*, 82 N.Y.2d 533, the court held that the mother of a minor child could not waive the requirements of payment of support money. The Court said:

"The claim of waiver is likewise of no effect. An oral modification of the provisions of a final judgment or divorce respecting alimony and support money may not be had without jurisdiction sanction."

and the court entered judgment for the back support money and refusing to punish for contempt.

That the rule of the Anderson and Smith cases, *supra*, is in harmony with the law of the other states is apparent not only from the cases of *Thomson v.*

Thomson, supra, and *Corbridge v. Corbridge*,

17.

Glazer v. Strength (Ga)199 SE 721; Herzog v. Herzog (Nash)151 F2d 142; Peters v. Weber (Kan) 207 P.2d 431; and Armstrong v. Green (Ala) 68 S2d 434.

In Glazer v. Strength, supra, in an action for failure to pay support money the defendant pleaded a release based upon consideration releasing him from all obligations to pay support money. The decree of the Court provided for payments of \$25.00 a month and the Court held that the mother could not contract away with the consent of the court the right of support of a minor child.

In Herzog v. Herzog, supra, the Court held that the mother could not waive the provision of the decree for a minor child's support.

The defendant cites Openshaw v. Openshaw, 105 Utah 374, 144 P2d 528. on page 18 of his brief. In the Openshaw case, supra, the question of an estoppel was not before the court, and the statement relied upon

12.

event the Supreme Court in the Anderson and Smith cases, supra, refused to follow the dicta asserting that a waiver was not available in an action for the recovery of delinquent support money unless it was judicially confirmed and in no event could a person waive future support payments.

On page 18 of the defendants appellate brief, the defendant contends that he remarried in reliance upon the said release obtained from the plaintiff. The said release does not in any way purport to release the defendant from further responsibility as far as alimony was concerned. (Tr8). The plaintiff can see no reason for answering the defendant's contentions on pages twenty and twenty-one.

POINTS NO. 4 255.

The court plainly did not err in awarding judgment for \$25.00 per month for each child, because there is ample

10.
evidence to sustain the findings of
fact No.5 entered by the lower court
on February 1, 1955 which is answered
in plaintiff's point No.2.

CONCLUSION

The plaintiff feels that she has
amply answered all of the material matters
presented by the defendant and not desir-
ing to extend this brief longer, it is
submitted that the lower court's decree
is supported in the law and in the facts
and entitled in equity to be affirmed by
this court together with respondent's
cost herein.